International Baccalaureate Session November 2023

Extended Essay

Subject: English B - Category 2 (b)

Research Question:

To what extent were the principles of Hippie culture reflected in Woodstock festivals in 1969

and 1999?

Topic:

Exploration of the Hippie Counterculture in the Woodstock Festival

Word Count: 4034

Table of Contents

Introduction	3
Hippie Culture and Principles	
Historical Context and Origin of the Hippie Culture	5
Key Principles and Values of Hippie Culture	5
Woodstock '69	
Historical Context and Background of the Woodstock Festival.	7
Organization, Planning, and Execution of the Festival	7
Attendance and Demographics of the Festival-goers	7
Performances and Music of Woodstock	8
Reflections of Hippie Principles In Woodstock 1969	9
Woodstock '99	
Historical Context and Background of Woodstock Festival 1999	9
Organization, Planning, and Execution of the Festival	10
Attendance and Demographics of the Festival-goers	10
Performance and Music of Woodstock 1999.	11
Reflections of Hippie Principles in Woodstock 1999.	12
Comparing Woodstock 1969 and 1999.	13
Conclusion	14
Works Cited	16

Introduction

I'm going on down to Yasgur's Farm,
I'm gonna join in a rock and roll band.
I'm gonna camp out on the land.
I'm gonna get my soul free.

"Woodstock" by Joni Mitchell is written to reflect the Hippie culture at the Woodstock Music and Art Fair in 1969 (*Joni Mitchell - Woodstock (Live In-Studio 1970)*). The festival shed light on the hippie counterculture that has arisen from the youth of the 1960s. Woodstock aimed to bring together the "Hippies" who embraced the values of free love, peace, freedom, and rejecting the social norms of society to create the anti-establishment ("What Is a Hippie?"). The need to get out of the encapsulated life and the criticism of the current political decisions of the government were inevitable for the hippies to join one of the biggest festivals during the 1960s. The festival has been rehashed four times, creating a different reflection of the principles of changing Hippie counterculture.

In this paper, I examined the reflection of the principles of Hippie culture in Woodstock Festivals in 1969 and 1999. The importance of this research is to illustrate the change of principles and the mindset of Hippies that has been reflected in the Woodstock festivals, in different eras of America. This particular topic is a special interest of mine because the values and the social system that the hippies defended at the time of Woodstock can still be observed in the modern world. From my perspective, unwritten social norms of society force people to earn more money to reach a particular status and have the desirable "good life" by consuming and owning property. The differences between social powers create

the counter ideas about the system and the norms of the society were expressed in different forms of arts such as dance, photography, film, music, and artworks to create awareness. Woodstock festivals are one of the crucial events in history in terms of social criticism. The Woodstock festivals and counterculture have revealed to me a culture deeply rooted in activism, and resistance for women's rights, marginalized groups' rights, racism, and the moral code of "making love, not war" in our lives (Creative Review). To provide a thorough understanding of this subject, it is necessary to examine the reflection of a arisen counterculture that has gathered people from all around America, on festivals. The diversification of the counterculture's identity and how it came to be the way it is in the modern world can possibly be seen in the shifted hippie values at Woodstock concerts. The values of these nonconformists and how they embrace their ideas through a form of art inspired me to value and find inner peace in myself and realize the social force behind academic validation, social status, and having a "good life."

In this essay, the question "To what extent were the principles of Hippie culture reflected in Woodstock fests in 1969 and 1999?" was analyzed through a close examination of the hippie culture and principles, Woodstock 1969, Woodstock 1999, and the comparison between the festivals. In order to answer the question, I have used the documentation from Netflix called "Trainwreck: Woodstock '99" alongside the discussion of Ben Wattenberg, James Miller, Kurt Vonnegut, Martha Bayles, and Morris Dickstein. The quotes of attendees from the festival and the media coverage from that time were also used to have a critical view of the interpretation of the events.

Hippie Culture and Principles:

Historical Context and Origin of the Hippie Culture

There are highlights of the Hippie movements and the formation of a counterculture in American society however, the birth of the Hippie culture cannot be explained with a specific start and end point. The values and the adaption of the lifestyle of Hippies gathered momentum in the 1960s in San Francisco, especially in the streets of Haight Ashbury (The Birth of Hippie Culture In The 1960s). In the 1960s Americans were facing many controversial issues such as civil rights, the Vietnam War, nuclear arms, the use of drugs, racism, consumerism, non-conformity, sexual freedom, gender rights, and the structural leading system of America (Poon) ("Lisa Law: The Counterculture"). These alternative lifestylers were mainly the youth and university students who defined themselves as "the rebels against their society" (The Birth of Hippie Culture In The 1960s) and got their influences from the Beatniks from the 1950s ("The Beat Generation · Music Propels the Counterculture · The American Century"). Hippies were searching for a cultural revolution to solve the social power imbalance and reach unlimited freedom by expressing their ideas through music, emblems, performances, and protests (Poon). The gatherings were made to celebrate the formation of a counterculture and being around people who share the same ideas.

Key Principles and Values of Hippie Culture

The birth of the Hippies originated new principles, understanding of lifestyle, and social structures that have been seen in the youth of the 1960s. According to John Robert Howard, the Hippies criticize the society of America in the words "Success in this society is defined largely in terms of having money and a certain standard of living. The work roles which yield the income and the standard of living are, for the most part, either meaningless or intrinsically demeaning." (Howard, 45). As it seems in the quote from the paper, the Hippies

had anti-materialistic principles that were against the results of consumerism and capitalism. Hippies' critiques of the social norms of society also show that the success of a person and a country is based on the properties, assets, and economic power they hold. The unlimited desire to hold the power and materials dehumanized society, which created social differences and global tensions (Howard). The rejection of the social system and norms in America created the anti-conventional principles of the revolutionary subculture. Hippies tried to push the boundaries such as properties, prejudice, and biased views on the conceptions of what is moral and immoral (Howard); to reach pure happiness, peace, and love in the society. The ideas of the Hippies convey that they have tried to go back to the roots of humans' aims in living and their understanding of life. To protest their ideas for a cultural revolution in American society and the rights of each human being; they have adopted environmentalist, individualist (Poon), anti-consumerist, and urban living lifestyles.

The Hippies were also known as "dropouts" in the society. However, being a dropout for a Hippie was intentionally made because they were rejecting the government-controlled curriculum and the education system which prepares the students to have a specific job to earn money and be another cog in the capitalist machine (Howard). They believed in volunteerism which disrupted the status quo and allowed them to be satisfied as an individual and a group (Howard). The urge to belong in a community, where the social norms were united as a group, influenced people to gather together and celebrate their ideas through forms of art. These meetings and the evolution of the Hippie culture influenced American society and resulting in the formation of a new fashion, an alternative way of living, the youth being politically engaged, the use of psychedelic drugs, exploration of homosexual relationships, music voicing Hippie values, and meeting of minds through music festivals.

Woodstock 1969

Historical Context and Background of the Woodstock Festival

Woodstock Music and Art Fair was one of the biggest music festivals of the time during the 1960s which created a space for Hippies to unite, celebrate and understand the peace in music, and protest the Vietnam War in a non-violent way (Poon). The first festival took place on a farm in Sullivan County, New York (Lawrence) and welcomed 450,000 people for three days including artists such as Joan Baez, the Grateful Dead, and Country Joe McDonald with many more well-regarded performers (Lawrence).

Organization Planning and Execution of the Festival

The organization's financial aim initially was to raise money to buy a new studio for the founder of Woodstock (Leitch). Despite these financial purposes behind the set up of Woodstock, there was no huge advertisement about the venue and no sponsored products in the execution of the festival which of that time was groundbreaking (Leitch). The ethos of the Hippie movement's anti-capitalistic values meant that the festival did not function as a supportive event for money purposes. In my view, the fact that the festival was held on a farm and not in an unnatural place embodies the support of Hippies for the farm and rural lifestyle of the subculture.

Even though the festival reached its aim in terms of protesting and creating a community, the planning and the disorganization of the festival created difficulties for the festival goers such as traffic jams, lack of enough food, water, parking problems, and camping space which led to fatal consequences (Helfrich).

Attendance and Demographics of the Festival-goers

Tie-dyed print shirts, sandals, headbands, floral prints and materials, and long untidy hair (Menclová) are the key aspects of the fashion that Hippies created to support their identity in Woodstock in 1969. This unique approach to lifestyle, fashion, and alternative

values against social norms has resulted in a biased view of Hippies in American society. "The townspeople quite frankly were terrified at the prospect of the Hippie arrival" said ABC's reporter Gregory Jackson (*ABC News coverage of WoodStock*) because they had seen the Hippies as peculiarly dressed dropouts (Helfrich). However, the positive values of the new youth society overcame the biased view of Hippies. The quote from the proprietor of Monticello Inn stated that the hippies were well-behaved, and some of them who stayed at the hotel even made their beds (Helfrich).

Performances and Music of Woodstock

The political statements at the festival were demonstrated by the music performances. The lyrics of the songs and the outfits of the performers were intentionally designed to provide a social commentary and consciousness to highlight what was going on in the US and around the world during that time. One of the examples of expressing the Hippie statements through a form of art was Jimi Hendrix's performance in his version of "Star Spangled Banner" (Kropf). While performing on stage, Hendrix was dressed in red, blue, and white which are the colors of the American flag (Kropf). He improvised the song on stage to create a statement with the words "and the rocket's red glare, the bombs bursting air" (Kropf). The guitarist created dramatic sounds of planes, bombing, crying, and screams (Kropf). These sounds were intentionally made to protest the involvement of America in the Vietnam War. My perspective on this matter is that the guitarist aimed to throw the audience into the atmosphere of a war zone and show the dehumanizing impact of violence. There were also other performances such as Country Joe singing "Fixin To Die", and Richie Havens singing "Freedom" (Kropf) to express their ideas of embracing the counterculture and reflecting the values of the movement and formation of the youth.

Reflections of Hippie Principles In Woodstock 1969

The positive values of the Hippies spread outside of the community and overcame the difficulties of the festival's disorganization such as lack of water, food, and the defunct sanitary system. The older generation who had antagonist thoughts about the Hippies were enlightened and the good will circulated. This festival reflects Hippie culture in two major aspects. Firstly, the values of Hippies united everyone regardless of their thoughts about life. CBS News Correspondent John Lawrence reported "Housewives handed out hot coffee to stranded youngsters who had not eaten in days. Catholic nuns passed around sandwiches made by Jewish mothers." (O'Brien) offered adequate evidence for the movement of Hippie beliefs around the Bethel farm. I have come to appreciate that the counterculture principles brought all the people together and highlighted the importance of being human and helping each other to have the "good life". The way that the new youth united with people regardless of their status, age, and socio-economic differences, confirms the importance of defeating prejudice and materialistic values.

Secondly, the festival allowed the people to be who they are and created a safe place to protest their own thoughts. The Woodstock Festival in 1969 impacted American culture by showing how the new generation could celebrate life by uniting to protest war, nuclear technologies, and social norms in a non-violent way (Leitch). The festival goers were bonded together in peace and created a cultural identity where they felt they belonged to a community by celebrating their own values and principles.

Woodstock 1999

Historical Context and Background of Woodstock Festival 1999

Woodstock Festival was brought back to life to celebrate the original Woodstock Festival's third anniversary (Crawford). The festival took place in the Air Force base in Rome, New York (Petrusich). The event turned out to be mayhem that had sexual assaults,

riots, looting, arson, and many deaths (Petrusich). The ignorance of the basic needs of human life created the rage which resulted in violence, molestation, pollution, and destruction of the place within human values. The representation of the original festival shifted into the opposite of what the Hippie values stood for: destruction, consumerism, Frat boy culture, rage, and uncontrolled behaviors.

Organization, Planning, and Execution of The Festival

The Woodstock 99 aimed to satisfy the new young generation with the popular music of that time and promote the festival to gain the most profit. The organizer's financial aims were the priority when they saw the financial potential in 3 different Woodstocks. The cuts were made in the budget from the materials that were essential for safety and basic human needs. From my perspective, the value of human and Hippie principles have already been disregarded in the early planning stages.

Attendance and Demographics of the Festival-goers

The crowd at the festival was different than the 1969. The purpose of the attendees at the festival was far from celebrating Hippie values. Due to the fact that it was promoted all over the US and the changed line-up, this affected the profile of the attendees and resulted in a different demographic of the festival goers. The style of nu-metal music brought its own behaviors and culture such as moshing, mosh pits, spitting, and fighting.

The youth's behavior in the 1990s was shaped by the needs, demands, and popular culture of America. The change in the popular music style, character attributes in cinema, and development in technology influenced the youth's approach. America in the 90s has the highlights of Bill Clinton's scandal, and the birth of films like American Pie, and Fight Club which have an impact on changing the behaviors of society. According to the journalist in Woodstock Festival 99 " It is brimming sexuality from the male perspective." (Crawford). The new generation's interest in violence and toxic masculine behaviors was prevalent in the

attributes of the Woodstock Festival attendees in 1999. These new aspects of the festival goers are the polar opposite of the Hippie spirit. The toxic masculinity that has been seen in the attendees points out the reversal in the counterculture which has the greatest purpose "Make love, not war." (Creative Review).

Performance and Music of Woodstock 1999

The performances at Woodstock 1999 have also changed with the materialistic purposes and the profile of the participants. The musicians were chosen to satisfy the audience; however, the attempts to support individualism, environmentalism, and peace have not been taken into consideration. The musicians and the response of the audience towards the artists were for the purpose of releasing the energy of the huge group of young people by expressing range and frustrations towards society. One of the performances that got a huge response from the audience was the song "Break Stuff" by Limp Bizkit (Petrusich). The lyrics saying 'It's just one of those days/ Where you don't want to wake up.../ Everybody sucks," (Petrusich) made the audience embrace the grunge and release it in a physical and aggressive way. Some attendees who were on drugs were furious about the disorganization of the festival, influenced by the lyrics, and actually started destroying festival property. The group "Red Hot Chili Peppers" sang "Fire", the cover of Jimi Hendrix's song, and it made the crowd go even crazier and actually set fire in the festival area (Crawford). The festival-goers failed to acknowledge the purpose of meeting and celebrating the principles of Hippie culture. The violence that the artists encouraged amongst the audience got out of hand and total mayhem between the attendees within the festival area. The social norms of the society, having been refused, took a different stance with the destruction and disobedience of moral values of society; disrespecting each other, and not caring about other people's needs. At this point, the community that has no rules led to a riot in this case. The unexpected behaviors

exposed the change in the original principles of Hippies because of the changing generation and mindset of the attendees.

Reflections of Hippie Principles In Woodstock 1999

The festival reflects the shifted principles of Hippies in two major aspects. Firstly, the misunderstanding of freedom and lack of peaceful and idealistic spirits was seen. The festival resulting in riots, violence, destruction, and sexual assaults cast doubt on the principles of peace, free love, and the value of humans that were interpreted in the original Woodstock. The concept of volunteerism from the Hippie generation is non-existent in Woodstock '99 (Howard). According to John Robert Howard, the system of volunteerism in a society can only succeed if the society's members recognize the necessity of performing tasks they dislike for the system to function. The litter intensification in the festival area which was accompanied by the broken portable toilets, as well as the overflow negligence were the concrete proof of the mentioned disorganization. That shows the twisted understanding of volunteerism in Hippie society as nobody wanted to be involved in hands-on work. The documentary captured, Lisa Law who participated in the original and last Woodstock as the festival's photographer, was trying to clean the trash on the ground without receiving any help from the community of festival goers, which reflects the misperception of the Hippie values of the new generation. The concept of volunteerism aims to satisfy the individuals and the community without social differences, or status. Even though volunteerism satisfies the individuals, the need to do the unwanted work in society, created a new system that the festival-goers rejected. The attendees refused to introduce rules to the society to prevent the formation of possible power differences among people. The underlying factor of chaos and sexual assaults relies on personal priorities and pleasures. As a result, the evaluation of

freedom has created uncontrolled behaviors of attendees which is an outcome of the misunderstanding.

Secondly, the principles of anti-consumerism and anti-materialism were forgotten in Woodstock '99. The Hippies became a marketable item by their outfits, emblems, and slogans. The commercialist and materialistic ideas to create a Hippie market to gain profit first occurred in the organization part of the festival (Howard). The Assistant Site Manager of the festival, Lee Rosenblatt, addressed the purpose of the festival with the words "And that was the moment for me where it stopped becoming about the concert-goer or the festival-goer experience. It was just cutting budgets, cutting budgets. We need to make changes. We're not making profits. Their goal was to make money. And what they ended up doing was selling the food rights." (Crawford). This quote gives sufficient evidence of the change in the purpose of the festival and a reflection of the managers' own desire to have economic and social power over society.

Comparing Woodstock 1969 and 1999

Examining the principles of the subculture in both festivals provides different reflections on the perception of the countercultural movement and the aim of the festival (Hiatt). The original festival was a symbol of love, peace, and cultural movement, whereas the festival in 1999 was depicted as a commercialized event for its money-making purposes. The aim to create a social message and stand for the anti-establishing messages was not seen in the last festival, where impacting the popular mainstream was more considered.

The principles of the subculture which were standing up for the freedom of the people and being opposed to the established social norms of the society were neglected in the last festival. Celebrating nudity, exploring your identity, and being your true self in a comfortable space were the fundamentals of the Hippies' principles which were seen in the original festival. They had a sense of belonging and a chance to share an identity which was a

resistance to the control of the traditional society (Xu). "To see that many people in one place, on the same page, for three days; laughing, crying, kissing, hugging, sharing. This was a Hippie attitude..." is a quote from one of the attendees of the original festival (Lemczak et al.) However, being naked and having the freedom to protest the social norms resulted in sexual assaults and inappropriate and disrespectful behaviors for the people of Woodstock 99. One of the attendees, 19-year-old Margaret Tea, commented, "In the '60s, it was the sexual revolution — that's one thing," Tea said. "But in the '90s, there's diseases and rapes and everything — it's different." (Hiatt) The festival's outcomes have changed the public's view on the new generation of Hippies, portraying violent-based and misogynistic aspects.

The original festival acted as an escape from the social and political pressures at the time however, (Ramsey) the press has focused on the negative consequences, such as safety issues, instead of the historical impact (Kropf). In the New York Times, the event reflected as "Waves of weary youngsters streamed away from the Woodstock Music and Art Fair last night and early today, as security officials reported at least two deaths and 4,000 people treated for injuries, illness, and adverse drug reactions over the concert's three-day period." (Kropf). The negative portrayal of the Hippies actions has also been interpreted as "self-indulgent, childish, and irresponsible" by the media, creating a biased, stereotypical image (Kropf).

Conclusion

While investigating the reflection principles of the Hippie culture, I have come across the evolution of American society and the counterculture. The two events represent the youth of the late 1960s and late 1990s. The values, behaviors, ideals, and changing image of the festival project the evolving subculture in the United States.

The original festival in 1969, symbolizes the rejection of the conventional societal norms, independence, peace, love, and music. From my vantage point, although the

difficulties in the area are seen, humans respecting each other, and creating a space for everyone to express themselves and be accepted as they are was a remarkable move for social change. However, Woodstock 1999 has shown contradictory elements in terms of Hippie values. Violence, consumerism, and lack of care towards the attendees, artists, and organizers have projected opposite characteristics from the spirit of Hippies.

This essay highlights the need for further exploration of alternative cultures and their impact on society and the media. Future research could be done according to the evolution of counterculture in the modern world. The influence of the communal gathering events could also be deeply investigated in order to understand the legacy of the festivals and their impacts on societal change.

This exploration of Hippie values and principles also projects the countercultural ideals that are still relevant in today's society. The ideals that the Hippies were against such as materialism, commercialism, and social divisions could be seen in the modern world. The first Woodstock festival serves as a reminder of the encouraging ideals of social justice, peace, and love despite the passing of time. The last Woodstock on the other hand could be interpreted as a symbol of the new portrait of the society in which the consumerist and materialistic views took control. With regards to the comparison of the two festivals and the shift in the principles of Hippies, the original festival reminds us that the strength of togetherness and celebrating similar beliefs and ideals could be a solution to manage the challenges in today's world. We can take inspiration from the Hippie values and the countercultural movement to recapture the message of the original Woodstock: "Make love, not war."

Works Cited

Bendure, Matthew Thomas. "Counterculture Country: Nation-Building at 1960s Rock Music Festivals." *TexasScholarWorks*, 1 May 2017, repositories.lib.utexas.edu/handle/2152/62644.

Bennett, Andy. Remembering Woodstock. Routledge, 2016.

- Berman, Judy. "Trainwreck: Woodstock '99 Pits Boomers against Millenials." *Time*, Time, 4 Aug. 2022, time.com/6203443/trainwreck-woodstock-99-review-netflix/.
- "The Birth of Hippie Culture in the 1960s." *TeachRock*, 22 Feb. 2021, teachrock.org/lesson/the-birth-of-hippie-culture-in-the-1960s/.
- Brown, Jeffrey, and Courtney Norris. "What Woodstock Taught Us about Protest in a Time of Polarization." *PBS*, Public Broadcasting Service, 16 Aug. 2019, www.pbs.org/newshour/show/what-woodstock-taught-us-about-protest-in-a-time-of-pol arization.
- The Counterculture Movement Spark.Parkland.Edu,
 spark.parkland.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1066&context=ah. Accessed 11 Sept.
 2023.
- "Counterculture Movement." *Omeka RSS*,

 digilab.libs.uga.edu/exhibits/exhibits/show/civil-rights-digital-history-p/counterculture.

 Accessed 11 Sept. 2023.
- Crawford, Jamie, director. *Trainwreck: Woodstock '99. Netflix*, Netflix, 3 Aug. 2022, https://www.netflix.com/watch/81337101?trackId=14170286&tctx=2%2C0%2Cf462e2 5b-1448-4d8b-b8a5-ee54cac96b9b-6249646%2CNES 3F1A1F6000CDBF3DAE1174

- E7618BB5-994911DC4F528C-CE2AA70C49_p_1694115087036%2CNES_3F1A1F6 000CDBF3DAE1174E7618BB5_p_1694115087036%2C%2C%2C%2C%2CVideo%3 A81280924%2CminiDpPlayButton. Accessed 18 Aug. 2022.
- Fink, Hannah. "The Counterculture Movement Spark.Parkland.Edu." *SPARK: Scholarship at Parkland*, 28 Nov. 2012, spark.parkland.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1066&context=ah.
- Graff, Samuel. "A Response to Woodstock 99: Peace, Love, and Rage; Recontextualizing Editorial Biases in Nu Metal." *University of New Hampshire Scholars' Repository*, scholars.unh.edu/comm-entary/vol18/iss1/12/. Accessed 11 Sept. 2023.
- Graye, Megan. "Woodstock '99: The Disturbing True Story behind the Disastrous Music Festival." *The Independent*, Independent Digital News and Media, 5 Aug. 2022, www.independent.co.uk/arts-entertainment/tv/news/woodstock-99-true-story-music-fes tival-b2139169.html.
- Helfrich, Ronald. "What Can a Hippie Contribute to Our Community?' Culture Wars, Moral Panics, and The Woodstock Festival." *New York History*, vol. 91, no. 3, 2010, pp. 221–44. *JSTOR*, http://www.jstor.org/stable/41965647. Accessed 12 Sept. 2023.
- Heritage, Stuart. "Break Stuff! How Limp Bizkit, Rioting Fans and a Huge Candle Handout Led to a Music Festival Fiasco." *The Guardian*, Guardian News and Media, 1 Aug. 2022,
 - www.theguardian.com/culture/2022/aug/01/woodstock-99-full-metal-racket-the-jaw-dr opping-story-of-a-disastrous-music-festival.

- Hiatt, Brian. "Woodstock '99 Report #28: Shirts and Shoes Not Required." *MTV*, 24 July 1999,
 www.mtv.com/news/jbpw1z/woodstock-99-report-28-shirts-and-shoes-not-required.
- Howard, John Robert. "The Flowering of the Hippie Movement." *The Annals of the American Academy of Political and Social Science*, vol. 382, 1969, pp. 43–55. *JSTOR*, http://www.jstor.org/stable/1037113. Accessed 12 Sept. 2023.
- Kropf, Peter. "More Than 'Sex, Drugs, and Rock "n" Roll?": Woodstock's Political and Cultural Elements." *Request Rejected*, 2020, www.forbes5.pitt.edu/article/more-sex-drugs-and-rock-n-roll-woodstock-s-political-and -cultural-elements.
- Lebo, Harlan. "How the Media Covered Woodstock and How Woodstock Changed the Media." *History News Network*, 5 Sept. 2019, historynewsnetwork.org/article/172951.
- Love, Peace and Psychedelia: The Role of Symbols in the Sixties ...,

 www.researchgate.net/profile/Stephen-Poon-5/publication/305044338_Love_Peace_an

 d_Psychedelia_the_Role_of_Symbols_in_the_Sixties_Counterculture/links/577fcf4208

 ae5f367d3704a2/Love-Peace-and-Psychedelia-the-Role-of-Symbols-in-the-Sixties-Counterculture.pdf?origin=publication_detail. Accessed 11 Sept. 2023.
- Menclova, Katerina. *Západočeská Univerzita V Plzni ZCU.CZ*, 2012, otik.uk.zcu.cz/bitstream/11025/4567/1/Woodstock%20Music%20and%20Art%20Fair% 20in%20film%20and%20literature%20-%20the%20emblem%20of%20the%20hippy% 20counterculture.pdf.
- "Michael Lang, Co-Creator of 1969 Woodstock Music Festival, Dies Aged 77." *The Guardian*, Guardian News and Media, 9 Jan. 2022,

- www.theguardian.com/music/2022/jan/09/michael-lang-dies-1969-woodstock-music-fe stival.
- Partin, Clyde. "Peace, Love, Music, Health Care, and Irony at the 1969 Woodstock Music Festival." *Proceedings (Baylor University. Medical Center)*, U.S. National Library of Medicine, 4 Dec. 2020, www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC7901401/.
- Perone, James E. *Woodstock: An Encyclopedia of the Music and Art Fair*. Bloomsbury Academic, 2005.
- Petrusich, Amanda. "Woodstock '99 and the Rise of Toxic Masculinity." *The New Yorker*,

 The New Yorker, 30 July 2021,

 www.newyorker.com/culture/cultural-comment/woodstock-99-and-the-rise-of-toxic-ma sculinity.
- Phillis, Will. "Woodstock 1969 vs. 1999: A Comparison of Prices, Drugs & Mayhem." *96.9*WOUR, 25 July 2023, wour.com/woodstock-comparison/.
- Poon, Stephen. "Love, Peace and Psychedelia: The Role of Symbols in the Sixties ..."

 **Researchgate*, 8 July 2016,

 www.researchgate.net/profile/Stephen-Poon-5/publication/305044338_Love_Peace_an

 d_Psychedelia_the_Role_of_Symbols_in_the_Sixties_Counterculture/links/577fcf4208

 ae5f367d3704a2/Love-Peace-and-Psychedelia-the-Role-of-Symbols-in-the-Sixties-Counterculture.pdf?origin=publication_detail.
- Ramsey, Jacklynn. "Peace, Love, and Politics: How Woodstock of 1969 Epitomized The ..."

 Digital Commons, 19 July 2019,

 digitalcommons.ursinus.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1020&context=pol_sum.

"Remembering Woodstock." Google Kitaplar, Google,

books.google.com.tr/books?hl=tr&lr=&id=Gm1QDwAAQBAJ&oi=fnd&pg=PP1&dq=woodstock%2Bmusic%2Bfestival&ots=EM54RJ1_Jr&sig=0YODuXP8v94aFmovVlvr5nGYZTo&redir_esc=y#v=onepage&q=woodstock%20music%20festival&f=false.

Accessed 11 Sept. 2023.

Shedden, David. "Today in Media History: The 1969 Woodstock Music Festival." *Poynter*, 24 Nov. 2014, www.poynter.org/reporting-editing/2014/today-in-media-history-the-1969-woodstock-music-festival/.

Taysom, Joe. "Why Woodstock '69 Was Almost as Awful as Woodstock '99." Far Out

Magazine, 15 Aug. 2022,

faroutmagazine.co.uk/woodstock-69-awful-as-woodstock-99/.

Valkanova, Dora R. "IMAGES AS TEMPLATES FOR COLLECTIVE MEMORY:

SYMBOLISM AND PERFORMANCE IN ICONIC AND POPULAR

PHOTOGRAPHS OF WOODSTOCK 1969,1994 AND 1999." *Scholarsbank*, June 2010,

scholarsbank.uoregon.edu/xmlui/bitstream/handle/1794/10696/Valkanova_Dora_R_ma 2010sp.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y.

Wattenberg, Ben. "Did Woodstock Change America? — With Kurt Vonnegut (1994) | Think

Tank ..." *AEI*, 5 Aug. 1994,

www.aei.org/multimedia/did-woodstock-change-america-with-kurt-vonnegut-1994-thin

k-tank-with-ben-wattenberg/.

- "The Westport Library Resource Guides: Woodstock: 1969." 1969 Woodstock The Westport Library Resource Guides at The Westport Library, 15 Feb. 2023, westportlibrary.libguides.com/woodstock.
- Whatley, Jack. "Remembering the Moment Rage against the Machine Burnt the American Flag on Stage at Woodstock 1999." Far Out Magazine, 4 Aug. 2022, faroutmagazine.co.uk/rage-against-the-machine-killing-in-the-name-american-flag-woodstock-1999/.
- "Woodstock ABC Coverage 8-18-1969." *YouTube*, ABC News, 28 Aug. 2012, youtu.be/sQcEfG4eRGI.
- "Woodstock CBS Coverage 8-18-1969." *YouTube*, CBS News, 28 Aug. 2012, youtu.be/WehjMZcQqPA.
- "Woodstock Music Festival Site (U.S. National Park Service)." *National Parks Service*, U.S. Department of the Interior, 8 Dec. 2021,

 www.nps.gov/places/woodstock-music-festival-site.htm#:~:text=The%20National%20

 Register%20Woodstock%20Music,in%20rural%20Sullivan%20County%2C%20NY.
- "Woodstock NBC Coverage 8-18-1969." *YouTube*, NBC News, 28 Aug. 2012, youtu.be/OYLUMEILEoU.
- "Woodstock." Google Kitaplar, Google,
 - books.google.com.tr/books?hl=tr&lr=&id=M-yEPUnB7GsC&oi=fnd&pg=PR7&dq=w oodstock%2Bmusic%2Bfestival&ots=5ZmOQZ57Ys&sig=nbU_n0VgH8BxCaFiIEQK 93nK_I4&redir_esc=y#v=onepage&q=woodstock%20music%20festival&f=false.

 Accessed 11 Sept. 2023.

- "Woodstock: 3 Days That Changed Everything | Music History Documentary." *YouTube*,
 YouTube, 6 May 2022, https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=jJ-HZ22HxNc. Accessed 12
 Sept. 2023.
- Xu, Ying. "The Stylistic Significance of the 'Hippie' Youth Subculture
 -Using the Woodstock Festival as a Case Study." *SCIRP*, Scientific Research Publishing, 11 May 2023, www.scirp.org/journal/paperinformation.aspx?paperid=125167.